FOX RESOURCES LIMITED

ABN 44 079 902 499

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL

MEETING AND EXPLANATORY
MEMORANDUM TO
SHAREHOLDERS

Date of Meeting

6 March 2023

Time of Meeting

11.00 am AWST

Place of Meeting

To be held virtually

A Proxy Form is enclosed

Please complete and return the enclosed Proxy Form in accordance with the specified directions.
Please read this Notice and Explanatory Memorandum carefully.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend, vote and ask questions online using their computer or mobile
device by following the instructions on how to participate remotely which are included in this Notice of

Meeting.



FOX RESOURCES LIMITED
ABN 44 079 902 499

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is given that the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Fox Resources Limited ABN 44 079
902 499 will be held virtually on 6 March 2023 at 11.00 am for the purpose of transacting the following
business referred to in this Notice of Annual General Meeting.

Given the impact of COVID-19 pandemic, the Board has made the decision that, in the interests of
safety, it will not be holding a physical meeting for Shareholders to attend and the Meeting will be held
virtually. Instructions on how to participate in the Meeting are set out on page 4.

Shareholders must e mail any questions or comments that they wish to raise to the
bruce.garlick@foxresources.com.au by 2 March 2023. The Chairman will answer the questions or
comments at the meeting, Shareholders can also ask questions at the Meeting by typing in questions
via the portal provided by Advanced Share Registry.

AGENDA
Financial Reports

To receive and consider the annual financial report of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2021,
together with the Directors’ Report and the Auditor's Report as set out in the Annual Report.

RESOLUTION 1 — RE-ELECTION OF TERENCE EARNEST JAMES STREETER AS A DIRECTOR

To consider and, if thought fit, with or without amendment, to pass the following resolution as an
ordinary resolution:

“That, Mr Terence Charles Edward Streeter, who retires in accordance with clause 6.1(f)(i)(A) of
the Constitution, and being eligible for re-election, be re-efected as a Director.”

RESOLUTION 2 — RE-ELECTION OF LUCIANA CARLA DA SILVA AS A DIRECTOR

To consider and, if thought fit, with or without amendment, to pass the following resolution as an
ordinary resolution:

“That, Ms Luciana Carla da Silva, who retires in accordance with clause 6.1(e) of the Constitution,
and being eligible for re-election, be re-elected as a Director.”

RESOLUTION 3 - ELECTION OF DAVID WHEELER AS A DIRECTOR

To consider and, if thought fit, with or without amendment, to pass the following resolution as an
ordinary resolution:

“That, Mr David Wheeler, being eligible for re-election, be elected as a Director.”

RESOLUTION 4 — CONSOLIDATION OF SHARES
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an ordinary resolution:
“T haﬁ for the purposes of section 254H of the Corporations Act, the Company's Constitution and

for all other purposes, with effect from the date this Resolution is passed approval is given for the
Company to consolidate its issued capital on the basis that:



(@) the then issued capital of the Company be consolidated on the basis that every
44.1817 fully paid ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company be consolidated into one
fully paid ordinary Share; and

(b) where the number of Shares held by a member of the Company as a result of the
consolidation effected by paragraph (a) of this Resolution includes any fraction of a Share,

that fraction be rounded up to the nearest whole number and otherwise on the on the terms
described in the Explanatory Memorandum."

RESOLUTION 5 — REMOVAL OF GRANT THORNTON AS AUDITOR
To consider, and if thought fit, to pass with or without amendment, as an ordinary resolution:
“That, for the purposes of section 329(1) of the Corporations Act and for all other purposes, Grant

Thornton Audit Py Ltd (Grant Thornton) be removed as the current auditor of the Company
effective from the conclusion of this Meeting.”

RESOLUTION 6 — APPOINTMENT OF HALL CHADWICK AS AUDITOR

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an ordinary resolution:
“That, for the purposes of section 327D(3) of the Corporations Act, and for all other purposes,
Hall Chadwick Audit (WA) Pty Ltd (Hall Chadwick), having been nominated by a shareholder of
the Company and having consented in writing to act in the capacity of auditor, be appointed as
the new auditor of the Company with effect from the conclusion of this Meeting.”

OTHER BUSINESS

To deal with any other business which may be brought forward in accordance with the
Constitution and the Corporations Act.

Details of the definitions and abbreviations used in this Notice are set out in the Glossary to the
Explanatory Memorandum.

By order of the Board

Bruce Garlick
Company Secretary

Dated: 2 February 2023



Participating and voting online

Shareholders who wish to participate in the Meeting online
may do so by login on to the Advanced Share Registry
Virtual Meeting Portal at
www.advancedshare.com.au/virtual-meeting.

If you choose to participate in the Meeting online,
registration will open at 11 am (AWST). You can log in to
the Meeting by entering:

* The Meeting ID and The Shareholder ID, which is
printed on the proxy form.

. Participating in the Meeting online enables
Shareholders to hear the AGM Iive‘ and to also ask
questions and cast votes at the appropriate times
whilst the Meeting is in progress. More information
regarding participating in the Meeting online,
including browser requirements, is detailed in the
Advanced Share Registry Virtual Meeting Guide
available on the Company’s website
www.foxresources.com.au.

Questions at the AGM

Please note, only Shareholders may ask questions online
once they have been verified. It may not be possible to
respond to all questions. Shareholders are encouraged fo
lodge questions prior to the AGM (please see below).
Submission of written questions to the Company or
the auditor in advance of the Meeting

A Shareholder who is entitled to vote at the Meeting may
submit a written question to the Company or the Auditor in
advance of the Meeting:

about the business of the Company;

if the question is directed to the Auditor provided it

relates to:

a) the preparation and content of the
Auditor's Report to be considered at the
Meeting;

b) the conduct of the audit or the Auditor's
independence; or

c) the accounting policies adopted by the
Company in relation to the preparation of
the Financial Statements.

We ask that all pre-AGM questions be received by the
Company by 2 March 2023, Any questions should be
directed to bruce.garlick@foxresources.com.au
Voting by proxy
A Shareholder entitled to attend and vote is
entitled to appoint a proxy. A Shareholder entitled
to cast two or more votes is entitled to appoint not
more than two proxies. Each proxy will have the
right to vote on a poll and also to speak at the
Meeting.
The appointment of the proxy may specify the
propartion or the number of votes that the proxy
may exercise. Where more than one proxy is
appointed and the appointment does not specify

the proportion or number of the Shareholder's
votes each proxy may exercise, the votes will be
divided equally among the proxies (i.e. where
there are two proxies, each proxy may exercise
half of the votes).

A proxy need not be a Shareholder.

The proxy can be either an individual or a body
corporate.

If a proxy is not directed how to vote on an item of
business, the proxy may generally vote, or abstain
from voting, as they think fit.

Should any resolution, other than those specified
in this Notice, be proposed at the Meeting, a proxy
may vote on that resolution as they think fit.

If a proxy is instructed to abstain from voting on an
item of business, they are directed not to vote on
the Shareholder's behalf on the poll and the
Shares that are the subject of the proxy
appointment will not be counted in calculating the
required majority.

Shareholders who return their Proxy Forms with a
direction how to vote, but who do not nominate the
identity of their proxy, will be taken to have
appointed the Chair of the Meeting as their proxy
to vote on their behalf. If a Proxy Form is returned
but the nominated proxy does not attend the
Meeting, the Chair of the Meeting will act in place
of the nominated proxy and vote in accordance
with any instructions. Proxy appointments in
favour of the Chair of the Meeting, the secretary or
any Director that do not contain a direction how to
vote will be used, where possible, to support each
of the Resolutions proposed in this Notice,
provided they are entitled to cast votes as a proxy
under the voting exclusion rules which apply to
some of the proposed Resolutions. These rules
are explained in this Notice.

To be effective, proxies must be received by 11.00
AM (AWST time) on 4 March 2023. Proxies
received after this time will be invalid.

Proxies may be lodged using any of the following
methods:

- Online proxy appeoiniment:
www.advancedshare.com.aufinvestor-
login

- Mobile device proxy appointment:

Lodge your proxy by scanning the QR
code on the proxy form and enter your
registered postcode.

- By email:
admin@advancedshare.com.au
- By Mail:

Advanced Share Registry Limited
110 Stirling Hwy, Nedlands WA 6009; or



PO Box 1156, Nedlands WA 6909
- By faxing a completed Proxy Form to:
+61 8 6370 4203.
- In person:
Advanced Share Registry Limited
110 Stirling Hwy, Nedlands WA 6009

The Proxy Form must be signed by the
Shareholder or the Shareholder’s attorney.

Proxies given by corporations must be executed in
accordance with the Corporations Act. Where the
appointment of a proxy is signed by the appointer’s
attorney, a certified copy of the Power of Attorney,

or the power itself, must be received by the
Company at the above address, or by facsimile,
and by 11.00 AM (AWST time) on 4 March 2023.
If facsimile transmission is used, the Power of
Attorney must be certified.

Shareholders who are entitled to vote

In accordance with paragraphs 7.11.37 and 7.11.38 of the
Corporations Regulations, the Board has determined that
a person's entitlement to vote at the Annual General
Meeting will be the entitlement of that person set out in the
Register of Shareholders as at 11.00 am (AWST time) on
4 March 2023.



FOX RESOURCES LIMITED
ABN 44 079 902 499

EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM

This Explanatory Memorandum is intended to provide Shareholders with sufficient information to
assess the merits of the Resolutions contained in the accompanying Notice of Annual General
Meeting of the Company.

Certain abbreviations and other defined terms are used throughout this Explanatory Memorandum.
Defined terms are generally identifiable by the use of an upper case first letter. Details of the
definitions and abbreviations are set out in the Glossary to the Explanatory Memorandum.

FINANCIAL REPORTS

The first item of the Notice deals with the presentation of the consolidated annual financial report of
the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2021, together with the Directors' declaration and
report in relation to that financial year and the Auditor's Report on the financial report. Shareholders
should consider these documents and raise any matters of interest with the Directors when this item is
being considered.

No resolution is required to be moved in respect of this item.

Shareholders have been given the opportunity to ask questions and make comments before the
Annual General Meeting by emailing bruce.garlick@foxresources.com.au. Shareholders can also
ask questions at the meeting by typing in questions via the portal provided by Advanced Share
Registry.

The Chair will put any questions from Shareholders to the Auditor or the Auditor's representative
questions relevant to:

(a) the conduct of the audit;
(b) the preparation and content of the independent audit report;

(c) the accounting policies adopted by the Company in relation to the preparation of the financial
statements; and

(d) the independence of the Auditor in relation to the conduct of the audit.

The Chair will also allow a reasonable opportunity for the Auditor or their representative to answer any
written questions submitted to the Auditor under section 250PA of the Corporations Act.

RESOLUTION 1 — RE-ELECTION OF TERENCE EARNEST JAMES STREETER AS A DIRECTOR

Resolution 1 seeks approval for the re-election of Terence Earnest James Streeter as a Director with
effect from the end of the Meeting.

Clause 6.1 of the Constitution states that there must be an election of at least one Director at each
Annual General Meeting. Pursuant to clause 6.1(f)(i)(A) of the Company's Constitution, Mr Streeter,
being a Director, retires by way of rotation and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election as a
Director.

Mr Streeter holds directorships in Corazon Mining Ltd, Moho Resources Ltd, EMU NL

If the Resolution is passed, Mr Streeter will be re-elected and will continue to act as a Director. If the
Resolution is not passed, Mr Streeter will not be re-elected and will cease to act as a Director.



Shareholders are urged to carefully read the Proxy Form and provide a direction to the proxy on how
to vote on the Resolution.

Based on Mr Streeter’s relevant skills and experience, the Directors, excluding Mr Streeter,
recommend that all Shareholders vote in favour of Resolution 1.

RESOLUTION 2 — RE-ELECTION OF LUCIANA CARLA DA SILVA AS A DIRECTOR

Resolution 2 seeks approval for the re-election of Luciana Carla da Silva as a Director with effect from
the end of the Meeting.

Clause 6.1(c) of the Constitution states that the Directors may at any time appoint a person to be a
Director, either to fill a casual vacancy, or as an addition to the existing Directors. Any Director so
appointed holds office only until the next annual general meeting following his or her appointment and
is then eligible for re-election. Ms Carla da Silva, having been appointed by the Board on 14 February
2022, retires from office in accordance with the requirements of clause 6.1(e) of the Constitution and
submits herself for election in accordance with clause 6.1(h) of the Constitution.

Ms da Silva and her related entities do not have any relationship with the Company, or other Directors
of the Company at the date of the Meeting. Ms da Silva holds no other directorships.

If the Resolution is passed, Ms da Silva will be re-elected and will continue to act as a Director. If the
Resolution is not passed, Ms da Silva will not be re-elected and will cease to act as a Director.

Shareholders are urged to carefully read the Proxy Form and provide a direction to the proxy on how
to vote on the Resolution.

Based on Ms da Silva’s relevant skills and experience, the Directors, excluding Ms da Silva,
recommend that all Shareholders vote in favour of Resolution 2.

RESOLUTION 3 — ELECTION OF DAVID COLIN WHEELER AS A DIRECTOR

Resolution 3 seeks approval for the election of Mr David Colin Wheeler as a Director with effect from
the end of the Meeting.

Clause 6.1(m)(ii) of the Constitution provides that a person may be elected as a Director at a general
meeting if that person has been nominated by the Directors for election at that meeting, provided the
total number of Directors does not at any time exceed the maximum number specified by the
Constitution.

The Directors have nominated Mr David Wheeler to stand for election at the Meeting and provided the
following details relating to his qualifications:

Qualifications

David is a fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors (FAICD) (since 1990).

David has more than 30 years of Senior Executive Management, Directorships, and Corporate
Advisory experience. David has experience on public and private company boards and currently holds

several Directorships and Advisory positions in Australian companies.
Other material directorships

Currently, Mr Wheeler is also a director of Cradle Resources Ltd.



Board recommendation

The Company confirms it has conducted appropriate checks into Mr Wheeler's background and
experience and those checks have not revealed any information of concern.

Based on Mr Wheeler's relevant experience and qualifications, the Board supports Mr Wheeler's
election, and he will assist the Company in achieving its strategic objectives as it continues to
restructure the Company.

If the Resolution is passed, Mr Wheeler will be elected and act as a Director. If the Resolution is not
passed, Mr Wheeler will not be elected as a Director.

Shareholders are urged to carefully read the Proxy Form and provide a direction to the proxy on how
to vote on the Resolution.

Based on Mr Wheeler's relevant skills and experience, the Directors, excluding Mr Wheeler,
recommend that all Shareholders vote in favour of Resolution 3.

The Directors support the election of Mr Wheeler as a director of the Company.
RESOLUTION 4 — CONSOLIDATION OF SHARES
Background

The Company announced on 20 December 2022 it was seeking to raise both seed and pre-IPO
funding to undertake a public fundraising and listing of the Company on the Australian Securities
Exchange (ASX). Plans for this are advancing with the objective of listing the Company by the end of
quarter 2, 2023.

A critical step the Company needs to take before proceeding with a public fundraising is to restructure
the Company's capital. With 847,804,893 shares currently on issue, and having regard to the losses
previously sustained by Company, the Company as currently structured, will not be able to satisfy the
ASX Listing Rule requirements including attracting at least 300 shareholders holding shares in parcels
of no less than $2,000. The minimum issue price for these shares must be 20 cents per share.

In order to achieve a restructure which places the Company in a position where the directors believe it
is capable of discharging its debts, acquiring that portion of the three tenements which it currently
holds from the third party and raising new capital, it is necessary to consolidate the number of shares
currently on issue at the ratio in order to set the Company up to be able to issue new shares at 20
cents each.

Resolution 4 seeks Shareholder approval to consolidate the Company's issued capital by
consolidating (ie converting) every 44.1817 existing Shares into one new Share (Consolidation) for
the purposes of section 254H of the Corporations Act, the Company’s Constitution and for all other
purposes.

Section 254H(1) of the Corporations Act provides that a company may, by resolution passed in
general meeting, convert all or any of its shares into a larger or smaller number of shares.

As at the date of this Notice, the Company has 847,804,893 Shares on issue. Accordingly, if
Resolution 4 is passed, the number of Shares on issue will be reduced from 847,804,893 to
approximately 19,189,056 (subject to rounding).

The Company does not currently have any options on issue.
The Company has raised $70,000 by way of a number of convertible loans. The Company intends to

raise additional funds by way of further convertible loans. All Shares to be issued on the conversion of
those loans will be on the basis of post Consolidation Shares.



With the exception of this section 3 of the Explanatory Memorandum, all other references in this
Notice (including the Explanatory Statement) to Shares are on a pre-Consolidation basis.

Implementation of Conselidation
If Resolution 4 is passed, every 44.1817 existing Shares will be consolidated into one Share.

As the Consolidation applies equally to all Shareholders, individual holdings will be reduced in the
same ratio as the total number of the Company’s Shares (subject only to rounding). It follows that the
Consolidation will have no material effect on the percentage interest of each individual Shareholder in
the Company.

Similarly, the aggregate value of each Shareholder’s holding (and the Company’s market
capitalisation) should not materially change — other than minor changes as a result of rounding — as a
result of the Consolidation alone (and assuming no other market movements occur). The
Consolidation will not result in any change to the substantive rights and obligations of existing
Shareholders.

Assuming the Company's capital structure as at the date of this Notice remains the same until the date

of the Meeting, the Company's capital structure before and after the Consolidation is and will be as
follows:

Pre Consolidation Post Consolidation

Shares 847,804,893 19,189,056

Fractional entitlements

The Consolidation will result in any Shareholder whose existing holding is not a multiple of 44.1817
receiving a fraction of a Share. These fractional entitiements will be rounded up as part of the
Consolidation, so that the consolidated holding will be rounded up to the nearest whole number. If the
Company reasonably believes that a Shareholder has been a party to the division of a shareholding in
an attempt to obtain an advantage from this treatment of fractions, the Company may take appropriate
action, having regard to the Company’s Constitution. In particular, the Company reserves the right to
disregard the division of the Shareholder for the purposes of dealing with fractions so as to round up
any fraction to the nearest whole number of Shares that would have been received but for the division.

Holding statements

As from the effective date of the Consolidation (in accordance with the timetable below), all holding
statements for Shares will cease to have any effect except as evidence of entitiement to a certain
number of post Consolidation Shares.

After the Consolidation becomes effective, the Company will issue a notice to Shareholders advising
them of the number of Shares held by each Shareholder both before and after the Consolidation. The
Company will arrange for new holding statements to be issued to Shareholders, who are encouraged
to check their holdings prior to disposal or exercise (as the case may be).

Tax implications for Shareholders

Shareholders are encouraged to seek professional advice in relation to any tax implications which may
arise as a result of the Consolidation. Neither the Company nor any of its officers, employees or
advisors assumes any liability or responsibility for advising Shareholders about the tax consequences
for them from the proposed Consolidation.



Timetable

Annual General Meeting 6 March 2023
Notification that the Consolidation has been approved 6 March 2023
Last day for transfer registration on a pre-consolidation basis 7 March 2023
Registration of securities on a post consolidation basis 21 March 2023
Issue date and Notices sent to shareholders 24 March 2023

RESOLUTIONS 5 & 6 - REMOVAL OF AUDITOR AND APPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR

Under section 329 of the Corporations Act, an auditor of a company may be removed from office by
resolution at a general meeting of which 2 months’ notice of intention to move the resolution has been
given to the company. Jungle Creek Pty Ltd, a member of the Company holding approximately 37% of
the Shares in the Company, has given notice of intention to remove Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd
(Grant Thornton) as auditor, a copy of which is attached in Annexure A of this Notice.

Following discussions with the Grant Thornton, it was agreed that a resolution would be tabled at the
Company's next annual general meeting seeking shareholder approval for the removal of Grant
Thornton as auditor. Grant Thornton has indicated that it will not contest the removal process as
auditor of the Company.

It should be noted under section 329 of the Corporations Act, if a company calls a meeting after the
notice of intention has been given, the meeting may pass the resolution even though the meeting is
held less than 2 months after the notice of intention is given. The Company seeks the approval to
remove Grant Thornton even though the Meeting will be held less than 2 months after the notice of
intention is given.

Resolution 5 seeks the approval of Shareholders to remove Grant Thornton as the Company's auditor
under and for the purposes of section 329 of the Corporations Act. If Resolution § is passed, the
removal of Grant Thornton as the Company's auditor will take effect at the close of the Meeting. If
Resolution 5 is not passed, Grant Thornton will remain as the Company's auditor but may initiate the
process of resignation as the Company’s auditor.

Under section 327D of the Corporations Act, the Company in a general meeting may appoint an
auditor to replace an auditor removed under section 329 of the Corporations Act, provided that a copy
of the notice of nomination of the auditor has previously been sent to the proposed replacement
auditor and to each person entitled to receive a notice of meeting. Jungle Creek Pty Ltd, a member of
the Company holding approximately 37% of the Shares in the Company, has given a notice of
nomination for Hall Chadwick (WA) Pty Ltd (Hall Chadwick)to be appointed as the Company’s auditor,
a copy of which is attached in Annexure B of this Notice.

Further, section 328A of the Corporations Act provides that a company must not appoint an auditor
unless the auditor has first consented to act as auditor and has not withdrawn that consent before the
appointment is made. Hall Chadwick is a registered company auditor, has had previous experience in
conducting audits of public listed companies, and is a well-known and respected firm. Hall Chadwick
has given its written consent to act as the Company's auditor pursuant to section 328A(1) of the
Corporations Act, subject to Resolution 6 being approved by Shareholders at the Meeting. As at the
date of this Notice, Hall Chadwick has not withdrawn that consent.




The Company does not believe that the audit quality will be diminished as a result of changing
auditors. The purpose of Resolution 6 is to appoint Hall Chadwick as the Company's auditor, under
and for the purposes of section 327D(2) of the Corporations Act.

Resolution 6 is conditional on Resolution 5 also being passed. Accordingly, the proposed appointment
of Hall Chadwick will only occur if Grant Thornton is removed as auditor under Resolution 5. If
Resolution 6 is passed, the appointment of Hall Chadwick as the Company's auditor will take effect at
the close of the Meeting.

Board recommendation

Resolution 5 is an ordinary resolution. Resolution 6 is a special resolution and as such requires
approval of at least 75% of the votes cast by Shareholders present and eligible to vote at the Meeting
(by proxy, attorney or otherwise). The Board recommends Shareholders vote in favour of each of
Resolution 5 and Resolution 6.



GLOSSARY

Accounting Standards has the meaning given to that term in the Corporations Act.
Annual Report means the annual report of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2021.
ASX means the Australian Securities Exchange.

Auditor means the Company’s auditor from time to time (if any).

Auditor’s Report means the report of the Auditor contained in the Annual Report for the year ended
30 June 2021.

AWST means western standard time as recognised in Perth, Western Australia.
Board means the Directors.

Chair or Chairman means the individual elected to chair any meeting of the Company from time to
time.

Company means Fox Resources Limited ABN 44 079 902 499.

Consolidation means the consolidation of the Company's issued share capital pursuant to Resolution
4,

Constitution means the Company's constitution, as amended from time to time.
Corporations Act means Corporations Act 2007 (Cth).

Directors means the directors of the Company.

Explanatory Memorandum means the explanatory memorandum accompanying this Notice.
Meeting means the Annual General Meeting convened by the Notice.

Notice means this Notice of Annual General Meeting.

Notice of Meeting means this Notice of Annual General Meeting.

Proxy Form means the proxy form accompanying the Notice.

Resolution means a resolution contained in the Notice.

Shareholder means a member of the Company from time to time.

Share means a fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.



Annexure A — Nomination of auditor

18 January 2023

The Directors

Fox Resources Limited ACN 079 902 499
10 Abbotsford Street

West Leederville WA 6007

Dear Sirs

NOMINATION OF AUDITOR

In accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2007 (Cth), Jungle Creek Pty Ltd,
being a member of Fox Resources Limited, nominates Hall Chadwick WA Pty Itd for
appointment as auditor of Fox Resources Limited from the company’s next Annual General

Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Yours

Terry Streeter
Director
Jungle Creek Pty Lid



Annexure B — Consent to be appointed as auditor

HALL CHADWICK %'

18 January 2023

Mr B Garlick

Director

Fox Resources Lid

10 Abbotsford Street
West Leederville WA 6007
Dear Sir

CONSENT TO BE APPOINTMENT AS AUDITOR — FOX RESOURCES LTD

In accordance with Section 328A of the Corporations Act 2001, we Hall Chadwick Audit (WA) Pty Ltd
hereby consent to our appeintment as auditors of your company.

Yours faithfully

Hall Chadwick Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

A fih—

Michael Hiligrove FCA
Director



& ONLINE PROXY APPOINTMENT
www.advancedshare.com.au/investor-login

00  MOBILE DEVICE PROXY APPOINTMENT
Lodge your proxy by scanning the QR code below, and enter
your registered postcode.
Itis a fast, convenient and a secure way fo lodge your vote.

Important Note: The Company has determined that Shareholders will only be able to attend and participate in the meeting through an online platform provided by
Advanced Share Registry.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PROXY FORM

I/We being shareholder(s) of Fox Resources Limited and entitled to attend and vote hereby:

APPOINT A PROXY
The Chair of OR sQz PLEASE NOTE: If you leave the section blank, the
the Meeting Chair of the Meeting will be your proxy.

or failing the individual(s) or body corporate(s) named, or if no individual(s) or body corporate(s) named, the Chair of the Meeting, as
my/our proxy to act generally at the Meeting on my/our behalf, including to vote in accordance with the following directions (or, if no
directions have been given, and to the extent permitted by law, as the proxy sees fit), at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to
be held virtually on & March 2023 at 11.00 am AWST and at any adjournment or postponement of that Meeting.

Chair's voting intentions in relation to undirected proxies

The Chair intends to vote all undirected proxies in favour of all Resolutions. In exceptional circumstances, the Chair may change his/her
voting intentions on any Resolution. In the event this occurs, an announcement will be made immediately disclosing the reasons for the
change.

VOTING DIRECTIONS

Resolutions For  Against Abstain*
1 Re-election of Terence Earnest James Streeter as a Director

2  Re-election of Luciana Carla da Silva as a Director

3  Election of David Wheeler as a Director

4  Consolidation of Shares

5 Removal of Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd as Auditor

6 Appointment of Hall Chadwick Audit (WA) Pty Ltd as Auditor

' * |f you mark the Abstain box for a particular Resolution, you are directing your proxy not to vote on your behalf on a show of hands

or on a poll and your votes will not be counted in computing the required majority on a poll.

SIGNATURE OF SHAREHOLDERS — THIS MUST BE COMPLETED
Shareholder 1 (Individual) Joint Shareholder 2 (Individual) Joint Shareholder 3 (Individual)

Sole Director and Sole Company Secretary Director/Company Secretary (Delete one) Director
This form should be signed by the shareholder. If a joint holding, all the shareholders should sign. If signed by the shareholder’s attorney,
the power of attorney must have been previously noted by the registry or a certified copy attached to this form. If executed by a company,
the form must be executed in accordance with the company’s constitution and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
Email Address
Please tick here to agree to receive communications sent by the Company via email. This may include meeting notifications, dividend
remittance, and selected announcements.



_ _ FOX RESOURCES LIMITED - Al dhigiin
The Company has determined that Shareholders will only be able to attend and participate in the Meeting through an online platform provided by Advanced Share
Registry.

UAL GENERAL MEETING

To facilitate such participation, voting on each Resolution will occur by a poll rather than a show of hands.
A live webcast and electronic voting via www.advancedshare.com.au/virtual-meeting will be offered to allow Shareholders to attend the Meeting and vote online.
Please refer to the Meeting ID and Shareholder ID on the proxy form to login to the website.

Shareholders may submit questions ahead of the Meeting via the portal.

HOW TO COMPLETE THIS SHAREHOLDER PROXY FORM

CHANGE OF ADDRESS

This form shows your address as it appears on Company’s share register. If this
information is incorrect, please make the correction on the form. Shareholders
sponsared by a broker should advise their broker of any changes.

APPOINTMENT OF A PROXY

If you wish to appoint the Chair as your proxy, mark the box in Step 1. If you
wish to appoint someone other than the Chair, please write that person’s name
in the box in Step 1. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. A proxy
may be an individual or a bedy corporate.

DEFAULT TO THE CHAIR OF THE MEETING

If you leave Step 1 blank, or if your appointed proxy does not attend the
Meeting, then the proxy appointment will automatically default to the Chair of
the Meeting.

VOTING DIRECTIONS — PROXY APPOINTMENT

You may direct your proxy on how to vote by placing a mark in one of the boxes
opposite each resolution of business. All your shares will be voted in
accordance with such a direction unless you indicate only a portion of voting
rights are to be voted on any resolution by inserting the percentage or number
of shares you wish to vote in the appropriate box or boxes. If you do not mark
any of the boxes on a given resolution, your proxy may vote as they choose to
the extent they are permitted by law. If you mark more than one box on a
resolution, your vote on that resolution will be invalid.

PLEASE NOTE: If you appoint the Chair as your proxy (or if they are appointed
by default) but do not direct them how to vote on a resolution (that is, you do
not complete any of the boxes “For”, “Against” or “Abstain” opposite that
resolution), the Chair may vote as they see fit on that resolution.

APPOINTMENT OF A SECOND PROXY

You are entitled to appoint up to two persons as proxies to attend the Meeting
and vote on a poll. If you wish to appoint a second proxy, an additional Proxy
Form may be obtained by telephoning Advanced Share Registry Limited or you
may copy this form and return them both together.

To appoint a second proxy you must:

(a) on each Proxy Form state the percentage of your voting rights or number
of shares applicable to that form. If the appointments do not specify the
percentage or number of votes that each proxy may exercise, each proxy
may exercise half your votes. Fractions of votes will be disregarded; and

(b) return both forms together.

CORPORATE REPRESENTATIVES

If a representative of a nominated corporation is to attend the Meeting the
appropriate “Certificate of Appointment of Corporate Representative” should
be produced prior to admission in accordance with the Notice of Meeting. A
Corporate Representative Form may be obtained from Advanced Share
Registry.

SIGNING INSTRUCTIONS ON THE PROXY FORM

Individual:

Where the holding is in one name, the security holder must sign.

Joint Holding:

Where the holding is in more than one name, all of the security holders should
sign.

Power of Attorney:

If you have not already lodged the Power of Attorney with Advanced Share
Registry, please attach the original or a certified photocopy of the Power of
Attorney to this form when you return it.

Companies:

Where the company has a Sole Director who is also the Sole Company
Secretary, this form must be signed by that person. If the company (pursuant
to section 204A of the Corporations Act 2001) does not have a Company
Secretary, a Sole Director can sign alone. Otherwise this form must be signed
by a Director jointly with either another Director or a Company Secretary.
Please sign in the appropriate place to indicate the office held.

TS

TI T
Ciy |

LODGE YOUR PROXY FORM :
This Proxy Form (and any power of attorney under which it is
signed) must be received at an address given below by 11.00 am
AWST on 4 March 2023, being not later than 48 hours before the
commencement of the Meeting. Proxy Forms received after that
time will not be valid for the scheduled Meeting.

AAN

i  ONLINE PROXY APPOINTMENT
www.advancedshare.com.au/investor-login

B4 BY MAIL
Advanced Share Registry Limited
110 Stirling Hwy, Nedlands WA 60089; or
PO Box 1156, Nedlands WA 6909

&  BYFAX
+61 8 6370 4203
© BYEMAIL

admin@advancedshare.com.au

Q@  INPERSON
Advanced Share Registry Limited
110 Stirling Hwy, Nedlands WA 6009

\. ALL ENQUIRIES TO
Telephone: +61 8 9389 8033
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10 Abbotsford Street, West Leederville, Western Australia 6007
PO Box 1386, West Leederville Perth Western Australia 6901
Tel: 61 8 9318 5600

Web: www.foxresources.com.au

Fox Resources Limited 2021 Annual General Meeting

Notice and Access Letter

The Annual General Meeting of Fox Resources Limited (FXR or the Company) will be held at virtually on 6 March 2023
at 11.00am (WST) (the Meeting).

Notice of Meeting

In accordance with the Corporations Amendment (Meetings and Documents) Act 2022 (Act), the Company will not be
dispatching physical copies of the Notice of General Meeting (Notice) to Shareholders, unless a Shareholder has made
a valid election to receive documents in hard copy.

The Act allows notices of meeting, and other information regarding a meeting to be provided online where it can be
viewed and downloaded. We are relying on technology to facilitate shareholder engagement and participation in the
meeting. Details of where you can access the notice of meeting, lodge a proxy and participate in the meeting are
contained in this letter.

Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the Company is taking precautions to facilitate an in-person Meeting in
accordance with any applicable COVID-19 restrictions. If the situation in relation to COVID-19 changes in a way affecting
the ability to facilitate an in-person Meeting as currently proposed, the Company will provide a further update ahead of
the Meeting by way of an announcement on the ASX market announcements platform

Access the Meeting documents online
The Notice is available online on the Company's website at https://foxresources.com.au

If you have nominated an email address and have elected to receive electronic communications from the Company, you
will also receive an email to your nominated email address with a link to an electronic copy of the Notice.

In order to receive electronic communications from the Company in the future, please update your Shareholder details
online at www.advancedshare.com.au with your unique shareholder identification number and postcode (or country for
overseas residents).

Shareholders can also request a paper copy of the Notice by contacting Advanced Share Registry on 1300 113 258
(within Australia) or +61 8 9389 8033 (outside Australia).

Attending the Virtual Meeting

If you are attending the Virtual Meeting, please login on to Advanced Share Registy Ltd Meeting Portal at
www.advancedshare.com.au/virtual-meeting using the Meeting ID and Shareholder ID, which is printed on the Proxy
form.

Lodge your proxy and voting instructions before the meeting online, by mail or by fax

Shareholders are strongly encouraged to vote by proxy. Enclosed with this notice is a paper copy Proxy Form which you
can either use to lodge your voting instructions online, or complete and return by mail, fax, email or in person, following
the instructions on the Proxy Form.

For your voting instructions to be effective, Advance Share Registry must receive them not less than 48 hours
before the time for holding the AGM (that is, by 11.00am (WST) on Saturday, 4 March 2023). Any proxy voting
instructions received after that time will not be valid for the Meeting
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Consolidated Financial Report
for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2021

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directorg of Fox Resourc_:es Ltd (“the Company” or “Fox”) present their report together with the financial statements
of the consolidated entity, being Fox Resources Pty Ltd (“the Company”} and its Controlled Entities (‘the Group") for the
year ended 30 June 2021.

DIRECTORS

The names and details of the Company's Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are
as follows. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.

Mr T Streeter Non-Executive Chairman

Mrs L da Silva Non-Executive Director (appointed 14 February 2022)
Mr G East Non-Executive Director (resigned 11 February 2022)
Mr B Garlick Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the year ended 30 June 2021 was the exploration for coking
coal. '

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The loss of the consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $476,692 (2020: loss of $235,847).

DIVIDENDS

No dividends were declared for the 2021 financial year (2020: nil).

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial report, the following significant change in the state of affairs during the
period under review has occurred namely that Fox Resources Ltd has signed a mandate to provide seed capital, advice
on the restructure of Fox's capital structure and to co-ordinate and manage Fox's proposed IPO raising if Fox can
achieve a capital structure which supports this.

OPERATIONS REVIEW

Exploration

Exploration activities are focused on increasing the current JORC Indicated and Inferred resources and tenement
maintenance.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group had ail of its remaining exploration and tangible assets for sale in the 30 June 2021 financial year. The net
deficit position as at 30 June 2021 of $8,158,179 continues to be financially supported by the Directors for twelve

months from the date of signing this report.

Significant Events after the Balance Date

On 24 October 2022 the Company signed a mandate with a stockbroking company to provide pre in_iti_al public offering
(IPO) capital for the proposed re-listing of the Company on the Australia Stock Exchange (ASX) providing the Company

can achieve a capital structure that supports a re-listing.

The Company's directors Mr.T.Streeter and Mr. B.Garlick along with former director Mr.G.East have agreed in principle
to sign either a Deed of Settlement or a Royalty for the amounts owing to them or their respective Companies. The
deed was signed on 11 February 2022.

On 5 July 2021 Fox Coal Pty Ltd (Fox) raised $250,000 by issuing one Convertible Note totaling $250,000 to Zimprops
Coal Pty Ltd (Zimprops). The Convertible Note is repayable by 27 October 2022 at 5% interest.
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On the 14 March 2022 Fox raised $50,000 by issuing one Convertible Note of $50,000 to Zimprops . The note is
repayable on the 27 October 2022 at 5% interest.

Zimprops will receive 4.43% per cent and 2.04% per cent respectively of the share capital in Fox if the convertible notes
above has not been paid by the maturity date. Fox has converted the Convertible Notes into shares under the following
terms six fully paid up shares, and three fully paid up shares respectively..

On 24 May 2022 Zimprops provided an advance of $50,000 to Fox at 5% to meet future project expenditure. The terms
of the advance are as follows:, to fund future project expenditure.

On 2 October 2019 the Company made an application to the Queensland Department of Resources for Exploration
Permit Contract (EPC 1523) to be upgraded to a Mineral Development License (MDLA 3040). This would allow the
Company to conduct further studies which increase the certainty of the development of a coking coal project. On 4 April
2022 The Minister of Resources in Queensland declined the application on the basis the Mineral Development License
was not in the public interest. The Company disagrees with the Minister's finding, and has referred the matter to the
Queensland Supreme Court.

Likely Developments and Expected Results
The Board continue to seek new assets and funding opportunities for mining exploration projects.
Information on Directors

Terence EJ Streeter, Chairman — Non-Executive

Experience and expertise
Mr Streeter is a businessman with extensive experience in exploration and mining companies and has held various
interests in the nickel sulphide industry for over 30 years.

Special Responsibilities
Chair of the Board.

Other current directorships.
EMU NL, Corozon Mining Ltd, MOHO Resources Lid.

Former directorships in last 3 years
Alto Metals Ltd.

Interests in shares and options )
Mr Streeter and related entities held 315,903,225 ordinary shares at the date of this report.

Luciana da Silva — Non-Executive Director

Experience and expertise ) - .
Ms Da Silva is a businesswoman with experience in exploration and mining companies.

Other current directorships.
None.

Former directorships in last 3 years
None.

Interests in shares and options )
Ms da Silva and related entities held 4,487,500 ordinary shares at the date of this report.

Garry East, Non-Executive Director (Resigned 11 February 2022)

Experience and expertise ) ) )
Mr. East is a successful Western Australian based businessman who has taken leadership roles in the agricultural

industry and has been an active investor in the resources sector for many years.

Other current directorships
None.

Former directorships in last 3 years
None.

Interests in shares and options _
Mr. East and related entities held 64,924,080 ordinary shares at the date of this report.
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Bruce Garlick, Executive Director, CFO & Company Secretary

Experience and expertise

Mr Garlick has more than 20 years’ experience in the mining and engineering industries, both internationaily and locally.
He is a member of CPA Australia. He has held senior positions in companies in Australia, South and VWestern Africa,
Europe and the USA including Normandy Mining (now Newmont Mining), Platinum Australia and MI Energy. Mr Garlick
Ihas extepsg: experience with corporate governance, financial regulations and has secured complex funding deals for
arge projects.

Other current directorships

None.

Former directorships in last 3 years
None.

Interests in shares and options
Mr Garlick and related entities hold no shares or options at the date of this report.

EXECUTIVES

Bruce Garlick, CEO

COMPANY SECRETARY INFORMATION
Bruce Garlick, Company Secretary

Directors’ Meetings

The following table sets out the number of meetings of the Company's Directors held during the year ended 30 June
2021 and the number of meetings attended by each Director.

Name of Director | Director Meetings Number
Eligible To Attend Attended

T Streeter 11 11

G East 1" 11

B Garlick 11 11

Unissued shares under option
There are no unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option at the date of this report.
Shares issued during or since the end of the year as a result of exercise

No shares have been issued during or since the end of the yearas a result of the exercise of options.

Directors and Officers Insurance

Indemnity agreements have been entered into between the Company and each of the Directors and Officers of the
Company. Under the agreements, the Company has agreed to indemnify those officers, to the extent permitted under
the Corporations Act 2001, against any claim or for any expenses or costs which may arise as a result of work
performed in their respective capacities as officers of the Company. The Directors have not included details of the

nature of the liabilities covered.

Proceedings on Behalf of Company

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any
proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or
any part of those proceedings. No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with

leave of the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001.
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Environmental Regulation

The Company’s operations are subject to various environmental regulations under both Commonwealth and State
Government legislation. The Directors are not aware of any breaches of the legislation during the current financial year
which are material in nature.

The Group’s operations are subject to various environmental regulations under the Federal and State Laws of Australia.
The majority of the Groups ceased activities involved low-level disturbance associated with exploration drilling
programs. Approvals and licences are obtained, and hearings and other regulatory requirements are attended to as
required by the management of the Group for each permit or lease in which the Group has an interest.

Non-Audit Services

The Company from time to time may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit
duties where the auditor's expertise and experience with the Company is important.

The Board of Directors has considered the position and is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is
compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The
Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor as set out below did not compromise the
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

s all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Board to ensure they do no impact on the impartiality and
objectivity of the auditor

e none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.

During the year ended 30 June 2021 and in the previous financial year there were fees paid or payable for non-audit
taxation services provided by the auditor of the consolidated entity.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 requires the lead auditor from Company’s auditors, Grant Thqmton Audit Pty
Ltd, to provide the directors with a written Independence Declaration in relation to their audit of the financial report for the
year ended 30 June 2021. This written Auditor's Independence Declaration is set out on page 31.

This report which includes the accompanying Corporate Governarice Statement is signed in accordance with a
resolution of Directors.

TERRY STREETER
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

21 December 2022 at Perth, Western Australia.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 30 June 2021

Notes

Other income 3
Share revaluation (loss)/income 3(a)
Gain/(loss) on the sale of assets 3{c)
Employee expense

Consulitancy expenses

Rental expenses

Insurance expense

Legal expenses

Accountancy and audit fees

Printing, stationary and postage

Share registry and exchange expenses

Exploration expenditure written off

Reversal of impairment

Other expenses

Finance costs

Loss hefore income tax

Income tax expense 4

Loss after income tax expense for the year
Other Comprehensive Income
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Total Comprehensive loss for the year

Basic and diluted (loss)/profit per share (cents) 10

Consolidated

2021 2020
$ $
78,247 732,020
(119,438) 10,030
450,889 (222,452)
(42,184) (148,239)
(84,244) (381,084)
(34,493) (6,479)
(25,675) (30,051)
(37,255) (8,132)
(39,146) (61,685)
. (863)
(10,277) (17,315)
(233,647) =
. 291,164
(32,179) (40,159)
(356,290) (352,622)
(476,692) (235,847)
(476,692) (235,847)
(476,692) (235,847)
(0.0006) (0.0003)

The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction

with the accompanying notes
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2021

Notes

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments in listed securities 5
Other assets 6
Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 19
Total Non-Current Assets

Total Assets

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 8
Interest bearing liabilities

Provisions 10
Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities 9
Total Non-Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net liabilities

Equity

Issued capital 11
Accumulated losses 12

Total Deficiency

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunctio
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Consolidated
2021 2020
$ $
2,020 37,894
110,831 230,690
14,512 19,318
127,363 287,902
2,492,882 2,068,417
2,492,882 2,068,417
2,620,245 2,356,319
2,522,213 2,361,593
2,303,263 1,431,572
12,960 3,610
4,838,436 3,796,775
5,039,988 6,241,031
5,039,988 6,241,031
10,778,424 10,037,806
(8,158,179) (7,681,487)
125,976,992 125,976,992
(134,135,171) (133,658,479)
(8,158,179) (7,681,487)

n with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2021

Notes Consolidated
2021 2020
$ $
Operating activities
Payments to suppliers and employees 15 (362,809) (394,907)
Net cash used in operating activities (362,309) (394,907)
Investing activities
Exploration and Evaluation expenditure (133,054) (697,144)
Proceeds from sale of share investments 9,089 356,462
Proceeds from sale of exploration assets 450,000 600,000
Net cash from investing activities 326,935 259,318
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (35,874) (135,589)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 37,804 173,483
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 2,020 37,894

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 30 June 2021

CONSOLIDATED

At 1 July 2020
Loss for the period
Other comprehensive income

At 30 June 2021

At 1 July 2019
Loss for the period
Other comprehensive income

At 30 June 2020

Issued Accumulated Total
Capital Losses Equity
$ $ $
125,976,992 (133,658,479) (7,681,487)
. (476,692) (476,692)
125,976,992 (134,135,171) (8,158,179)
125,976,992 (133,422,632) (7,445,640)
- (235,847) (235,847)
125,976,992 (133,658,479) (7,681,487)

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021

1 Corporate Information

The financial report of Fox Resources Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2021 was authorised for issue in accordance with
a resolution of the directors on 22 December 2022.

The financial statements cover the Group of Fox Resources Limited and its controlled entities. Fox Resources Ltd is a
company limited by shares incorporated in Australia and is a public unlisted company. Fox Resources Ltd is a for-profit
entity for the purposes of preparing the financial statements.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of Fox Resources Ltd is the exploration for minerals.

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of accounting

The consolidated general purpose financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the
Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in a financial
report containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Compliance with
Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this financial report are
presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.

The financial report has been prepared on an accrual basis, except for cash flow information, and is based on historical
costs with the exception of available for sale investments measured at fair value. This financial report has been
presented in Australian dollars.

Fox Resources Ltd is the Group’s Ultimate Parent Company. Fox Resources Ltd is a Public Company incorporated and
domiciled in Australia. The address of its registered office and its principal place of business is 10 Abbotsford Street,
West Leederville, Westem Australia.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021 were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 22 December 2022.

(b) New and revised standards that are effective for these financial statements

The Company has adopted all new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretation issued by the AASB that are
mandatory for the current reporting year. Any new or amended Accounting Standards or interpretations that are not yet
mandatory have not been early adopted.

() Impact of standards issued but not yet applied

A number of new standards, amendments of standards and interpretation that have recently been issued but not yet
effective have not been adopted by the Group as at the financial reporting date. The Group has reviewed these
standards and interpretations and has determined that none of the new or amended standards will significantly affect the

Group's accounting policies, financial position or performance.

(d) Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Parent Company and all of its subsidiaries as of 30 June 2021.
The Parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. All subsidiaries have a
reporting date of 30 June.

All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are
reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a group perspective. Amounts
reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the

accounting policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are recognised
from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable.

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and net assets
that are not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries between the
owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests.

(e) Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that a non-financial asset may be impaired.
Where an indicator of impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. It is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell and it does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a post-tax
discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future
periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining

useful life.

) Investments and other financial assets

Recognition, and de-recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of -
the financial instrument. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial

liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the
transaction price in accordance with AASB 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for
transaction costs (where applicable). Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging

instruments, are classified into the following categories:
= amortised cost
e fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
o  fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
In the periods presented the corporation does not have any financial assets categorised as FVOCI.

The classification is determined by both:

s the entity's business model for managing the financial asset
e the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021

Allincome and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance
costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within
other expenses.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as
FVTPL):

o they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its
contractual cash flows

s the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other
receivables fall into this category of financial instruments under AASB 9.

Impairment

AASB 9's impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognise expected credit losses — the
‘expected credit loss (ECL) model'. This replaced AASB 139'’s ‘incurred loss model’. Instruments within the scope of the
new requirements included loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, trade
receivaples, contract assets recognised and measured under AASB 15 and loan commitments and some financial
guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependant on the Group first identifying a credit loss event. Instead the Group
considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit losses, including
past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future
cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

o financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or
that have low credit risk ('Stage 1') and

s financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and
whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2)

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have been objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date.’

12-month expected credit losses' are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected credit losses' are
recognised for the second category.

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the
expected life of the financial instrument.

Trade and other receivables
The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables as well as contract assets

and records the loss allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These are expected shortfalls in contractual cash
flows, considering the potential for default at any point during the lifetime of the financial instrument. In calculating, the
Group uses its historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to calculate expected credit

losses using a provision matrix.
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for the year ended 30 June 2021

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an
original maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the Consolidated Statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts

(h) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the
risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as a finance cost.

(i) Revenue

!qterest revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument) to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset.

(i) Income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences:

1. except when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

2. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised:

1. except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

2. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
ternporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against

which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax

asset to be utilised.
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Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the profit or loss

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority.

Rebates received for research and development tax concessions are recognised in the profit or loss.
(k) Other taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

° where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of
the expense item as applicable; and

° receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or
payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising
from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as
operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority.
n Areas in Exploration and Evaluation

Exploration and evaluation costs related to an area of interest are carried forward only when rights of tenure to the area
of interest are current and provided that one of the following conditions is met:

° Such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of
interest, or alternatively by its sale; or
° Exploration and/or evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a state which permits a

reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves and active
and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area are continuing.

Costs carried forward in respect of an area of interest that is abandoned are written off in the year in which the decision
to abandon is made.

(m) Provisions for Site Restoration

The Group records the present value of the estimated cost of legal and constructive obligations (such as those under
the Group’s Environmental Policy) to restore operating locations in the period in which the obligation is incurred. The
nature of restoration activities includes dismantling and removing structures, rehabilitating mines, dismantling operating
facilities, closure of plant and waste sites and restoration, reclamation and revegetation of affected areas.

Typically the obligation arises when the asset is installed at the production location. When the ligbility is initially
recorded, the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining assets. Additional
disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognised as additions or changes to the corresponding asset

and rehabilitation liability when incurred.
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{n) Trade and other payables

Trad_e payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of the reporting period that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes
obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.

(o) Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net of
transaction costs. After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs,
and any discount or premium on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised and as well as through the
amortisation process.

(p) Earnings Per Share (“EPS")

Basic EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than
dividends),divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted EPS is calculated as the net profit attributable to members, adjusted for:

e« Costs of servicing equity (other than dividends):

e The after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that
have been recognised as expenses: and

e  Other non-discretionary changes or expenses during the period that would result from the ordinary
dilution of potential ordinary shares;

Divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilufive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for  any
bonus element

(q) Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates
and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. Where there is a change in an accounting estimate, the change shall be recognised prospectively by
including it in profit or loss in the period of the change and in future periods, if the change affects both.

The estimates, assumptions and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Impairment of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure and related project costs

The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of factors,
including whether the Group decides to exploit the related lease itself or, if not, whether it successfully recovers the

related exploration and evaluation asset through sale.

Factors which could impact the future recoverability include the future technological changefs vyhich could impact the
cost of mining, future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to

commodity prices.

To the extent that capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is determined not to be recoverable in the future,
this will reduce profits and net assets in the period in which this determination is made.
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In addition, exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised if activities in the area of interest have not yet reached
a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves. To
the extent that it is determined in the future that this capitalised expenditure should be written off, this will reduce profits
and net assets in the period in which this determination is made.

For the period ended 30 June 2021 $224,465 exploration and evaluation expenditure was capitalised, and $233,647
was written off (2020: $299,703 written off). The basis of the impairment was a value in use calculation based on
current market data and costs of the tenements either surrendered during the year or approved and surrendered post
the end of the financial year

Loans receivable from confrolled entities

The carrying value of loans receivable from controlled entities is assessed on an annual basis. In the event that the
carrying amount of loans exceeds the net assets of the controlled entities an impairment loss is to write down the
carrying amount to equal the net assets of the controlled entities.

(s) Going concern

This financial report has been prepared on the basis of going concern, which contemplates continuity of normal
business activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. As at 30
June 2021 the Group has reported a loss after tax for the period of $476,692, net cash outflows from operations of
$362,809 and net liabilities of $8,158,179.

Directors and any associated director-related entities have continued to financially support the Group from the reporting
date until the date of signing this financial report. Fox's major director-related creditor is Jungle Creek Gold Mines Pty
Ltd (*Jungle Creek”), which was owed $7,139,988 as at 30 June 2021. Mr Streeter will continue to financially support
the Group until twelve months from the date of this financial report.

As at 30 June 2021 the Group holds $2,020 cash on hand. The Group is committed to payments to maintain its rights
over its exploration assets. As a result the Group has and expects further cash outflows from operating and investing
activities in the next financial period. The ability of the Group to be able to continue as a geoing concern is thus
dependent upon the Group being able to secure additional working capital as and when required. The Directors are
satisfied that additional working capital has and will be secured as required and that it is appropriate to prepare the
financial statements on a going concern basis based on the following:

¢ Fox as at 30 June 2021 held 900,000 shares in St George Mining Limited and 1.08m shares in Estrella
Resources that have a fair value of $80,112 at the date of this report;

» On 24 October 2022 the Company signed a mandate with a stockbroking company to provide pre initial
public offering (IPO) capital for the proposed re-listing of the Company on the Australia Stock Exchange
(ASX) providing the Company can achieve a capital structure that supports a re-listing;

e The Company received $160,000 of the pre-IPO funds between November and December 2022 via a
convertible note agreement relating to the mandate above;

e Managing all costs in line with management's forecasts;

o Continued support of the Company's directors to defer payments for loans and payables until such time
the Company is able to settle these liabilities; and

e The completion of an anticipated initial public offering on the Australia Stock Exchange.

Based upon the above, the Board has reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its
debts as and when they become due and payable and the Directors consider the going concern basis of
preparation to be appropriate for this financial report.

in the event that the listing is unsuccessful or further capital is not raised, and as a result the Company are unable
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, the Company may be unable to discharge their
liabilities in the normal course of business and adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation that
assets may need to be realized other than in the nomrmal course of business and at amounts which could differ
significantly from the amounts at which they are currently recorded in the balance sheets. In addition, the
Company may have to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current. No such adjustments

have been made to these financial statements.
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Notes
MNote 3 = Other income and financial costs

(a) Other Income
Other income
Gain sale of Assets held for Sale

(b) Revaluation (Loss)/Gain on fair value of listed securities

(c) Finance costs
Interest on loan from director-related and other entities

Notes
Note 4 = Income Tax

Reconciliation to income tax expense on accounting profit
Accounting loss before income tax
Tax payable at the statutory income tax rate 27% (2020:27%)

Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes:
Tax losses not recognised

Net Deferred Tax recognised arising on:
Deferred tax assets
Tax losses

Deferred tax liabilities
Exploration and evaluation assets
Net deferred tax

Deferred Tax Asset not recognised arising on:

Tax losses
Capital losses
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Consolidated
2021 2020
$ $
78,247 132,020
459,889 600,000
538,136 732,020
(119,438) 10,030
356,290 352,622

Consolidated

2021 2020

$ $
(476,692) (235,847)
(129,239) (64,853)
129,239 64,853
510,000 510,000
510,000 510,000
37,806,878 37,806,878
37,806,878 37,806,878
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Note 4 = Income Tax (Cont.)

The Group has tax losses arising in Australia of $122,634,243 (2020: $122,157,551) that are available indefinitely for
offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. These losses are only available if the
Group satisfies specific requirements in the tax year in which they were recouped.

Tax consolidation

For the purposes of income taxation, Fox Resources Limited and its 100% owned subsidiaries have formed a tax
consolidated group in 2004. Fox Resources Limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated group. Members of the
group have entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate income tax expense to the wholly-owned
subsidiaries. In addition, the agreement provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should
the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. At the balance date, the possibility of default is remote.

Tax effect accounting by members of the tax consolidated group

Tax expense / income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences are recognised
in the separate financial statements of the members of the tax consolidated group using the group allocation method.
Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits of the members
of the tax consolidated group are recognised by the Company (as head entity in the tax consolidated group).

Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement. Under the terms of the tax funding
agreement, each member of the tax consolidated group has agreed to pay a tax equivalent payment to or from the
head entity, based on the current tax liability or current tax asset of the entity. Such amounts are reflected in amounts
receivable from or payable to other members of the tax consolidated group.

Notes Consolidated
2021 2020
Note 5 - Investments in listed securities $ $
Listed investment in St Gearge Mining Limited 50,196 230,690
Listed investment in Estrella Resources Limited 60,635 -
110,831 230,690

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets at FVTPL include the equity investment in St George Mining Limited and Estrella Resources Limited.
The Group accounts for the investment at FVTPL and did not make the irrevocable election to account for it at FVOCI.

Notes Consolidated
2021 2020
Note 6 — Other Assets $ $
Current
Prepayments 3,342 12,385
Other assets 11,170 6,953
14,512 19,318

Current other financial assets represent bonds for office premises and credit cards.
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Note 7 = Investment in controlled entities

Parent
Fox Resources Limited

Controlled Entities
Newcity Corporation Pty Ltd

Gascoyne Mines Pty Lid
Fox Energy Pty Ltd

Fox Coal Pty Ltd
Waterford Coal Pty Lid

All companies are incorporated in Australia.

Note 8 — Trade and other payables
Current

Trade creditors

Other creditors

Total Trade and other payables

Aggregate amounts payable to related parties (included above)

Other related parties. (Refer to Note 16)

Class of Principal
Percentage owned share activity
2021% 2020 %
; Mining &
100 100 Ordinary Exploration
. Mining &
100 100 Ordinary Exploration
. Mining &
100 100 Ordinary Exploration
" Mining &
82 82 Ordinary Exploration
; Mining &
100 100 Ordinary Exploration
Notes Consolidated
2021 2020
$ $
49,439 163,839
2472774 2,197,754
2,522,213 2,361,593
2,404,218 2,157,842

All amounts are short-term. The carrying values of trade payables and other payables are considered to be a

reasonable approximation of fair value

Note 9 — Interest bearing liabilities
Current
Related party loans

Non - Current
Related party loans

(a) Related and Third Party Loans

Notes

(a)

(a)

Consolidated

2021 2020

$ $
2,303,263 1,431,572
5,939,988 6,241,031

This relates to loans from Jungle Creek Gold Mines Pty Ltd, G East and B Garlick. Refer to full details at Note 16.

Page 19



Consolidated Financial Report
for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2021

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021

Notes Consolidated
2021 2020
Note 10 - Provisions $ $
Current
Employee entitiements 12,960 3,610
Movement in provisions
At 1 July 3,610 -
Entitlements incurred 9,350 3,610
12,960 3,610
Notes Consolidated
2021 2020
Note 11 —= Contributed Equity $ $
(a) Issued and paid up capital
Ordinary shares fully paid 125,976,992 125,976,992
{b) Movement in shares on issue 2?\]? 221200
Balance at beginning of year 847,804,893 847,804,893
Total issued and paid up capital 847,804,893 847,804,893

(d) Detail of Share option issues
No options were issued in the 2021 financial year.

(e) Terms and conditions of contributed equity

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the Company, to
participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on
shares held. Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company.

(f) Capital Management Policy
Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a good debt to equity ratio, provide the shareholders

with adequate returns and ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as a going concern.

The Group's debt and capital includes share capital and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group's financial risks and adjusting its capital
structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the management of debt

levels and share issues. As at 30 June 2021 working capital deficit was $4,711,073 (2020 $3,508,873). This is mainly
caused by the level of short-term interest bearing liabilities
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Notes Consolidated
2021 2020
Note 12 — Accumulated losses $ $
Balance at beginning of year (133,658,479) (133,422,632)
Net profit/ (loss) for the period (as previously stated) (476,692) (235,847)
Balance at end of year (134,135,171) (133,658,479)

Note 13 - Commitments for Expenditure

Mineral Tenement Commitments

In accordance with the Queensland Department of Resources, the consolidated entity has obligations to pay tenement
rentals and to perform minimum work on mineral tenements held. These obligations vary from time to time in
accordance with the tenements held and are expected to be fulfilled in the normal course of operations of the
consolidated entity so as to avoid forfeiture of any tenement.

Notes Consolidated
2021 2020
Minimum expenditure requirements $ $
Not later than one year 18,750 25,000
Later than one year but not later than five years 192,970 110,000
Later than five years - 50,000
211,720 185,000
Exploration commitments relate to Bundaberg exploration assets.
Notes Consolidated
2021 2020
Note 14 — Remuneration of Auditors = Grant Thornton $ $
Audit or review of the financial statements 25,000 61,685
Notes Consolidated
2021 2020
Note 15 — Cash flow information $ $
(a) Reconciliation of net loss after tax to net cash flows
from operations
Net Loss (476,692) (235,847)
Non-Cash and investment ltems
Loss/ (profit) on sale of exploration assets - 742,320
Exploration expenditure written off 233,647 -
Share revaluation loss / (profit) 119,859 10,030
Changes in Assets and Liabilities
(Increase)/Decrease in Other financial assets 105,346 207,460
(Increase)/Decrease in Exploration assets (239,919) (291,164)
Increase/(Decrease) in accounts payable (114,400) {263,954)
Increase/(Decrease) in provisions 9,350 3,610
Net cash flows used in operating activities (362,809) (172,455)
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Note 16 — Related party transactions
Details of Fox Resources Limited's wholly-owned subsidiaries are included in Note 6.

Wholly-owned group transactions

Controlled entities made payments and received funds on behalf of Fox Resources Limited and other controlled entities
by way of inter-company loan accounts with each controlled entity, These loans are unsecured, bear na interest and are
repayable on demand; however, demand for repayment is not expected in the next twelve months.

Transactions with related parties

All transactions with related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those
available to other parties unless otherwise stated. During the year the following transactions were entered into with
related parties:

As at 30 June 2021, the Company owed Jungle Creek Gold Mines Pty Ltd, of which TEJ Streeter is a Director of the
Company, $7,139,988. The terms of the loans are that interest is accrued at a rate of 8% per annum with the loan
(including accrued interest) repayable as per the individual loan agreements and each loan is for twelve months. The
total interest accrued to Jungle Creek Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2021 is $3,816,235. Under the terms of the agreement,
Jungle Creek Gold Mines Pty Ltd may elect for the loan (including accrued interest) to be repaid, subject to shareholder
approval, by the issue of shares. Jungle Creek Gold Mines Pty Ltd also has a security interest registered over the
consolidated entity's Queensland coal tenements; this was waived in November 2018. Jungle Creek Gold Mines Pty Lid
agreed to extend the loans outstanding at year-end ($7,139,988) and to continue to financially support the company
until the earlier of the sale of the Queensland Coal tenements or 30 June 2022 provided funds are available to repay
the loans.

As at 30 June 2021 the Company owed Garry East a Director of the Company $638,737 including interest. The term of
the loan is that interest is accrued at a rate of 8% per annum with the loan (including any accrued interest) repayable
within one month. The loans remain unpaid at the date of this report. Mr East may elect for the loan (including accrued
interest) to be repaid, subject to shareholder approval, by the issue of shares.

The Company entered into an agreement with Bruce Garlick a Director of the Company in July 2015 to which B Garlick
loaned a total of $250,000. The term of the loan is that interest is accrued at a rate of 8% per annum with the loan
(including any accrued interest) repayable within one month. The loan remains unpaid at the date of this report, with the
total balance at 30 June 2021 including interest being $243,572. Mr Garlick may elect for the loan (including accrued
interest) to be repaid, subject to shareholder approval, by the issue of shares

Key management personnel remuneration

2021 2020

$ $

Short-term benefits 448,950 483,570
Post-employment benefits " =
Share based payments - -
448,950 483,570

Total remuneration
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Note 17 — Financial Instruments

(a) Financial risk management policies and objectives

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of hire purchase contracts, related party loans and cash and short-
term deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise
directly from its operations.. The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are cash flow, interest rate
risk and liquidity risk, and the value of the shares held in St George Ltd ASX code SGQ,and Estrella Ltd ASX code
ESR. The Group uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is exposed. These
include monitoring levels of exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange risk and assessment of market forecasts for
interest rate and foreign exchange. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. Details of
the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement
and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial
liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 of the financial statements.

(b) Interest rate risk exposure

The consolidated entity's exposure to Interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument's value will fluctuate
as a result of changes in market interest rates on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities is constantly
analysed. Within this analysis consideration is given to potential renewals of existing positions and alternative financing.
Financial assets and liabilities which are non-interest bearing have not been included in the analysis below. A sensitivity
analysis table in relation to interest rate risk has been included at (f).

(c) Liquidity Risk

The responsibility of liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors. The Board manages liquidity risk by
maintaining sufficient cash or credit facilities to meet the operating requirements of the business and investing excess
funds in highly liquid short-term investments. The Group's liquidity needs can be met through a variety of sources
including: cash generated from operations, short and long-term borrowings and issue of equity instruments. The
Group’s committed standby facilities contain no financial undertakings relating to interest cover and are not affected by
a reduction in the Group’s credit rating. Details of the Group and Company's non-derivative financial instruments
according to their contractual maturities are in the table below. The amounts below included the principal and interest
components of the interest-bearing liabilities which were determined based on the existing conditions at year end.
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Note 17 = Financial Instruments (cont.)

30 June 21 Maturing Total
CONSOLIDATED <1 year 1to 3 3to5 Over5
Years Years Years
$ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,020 - - - 2,020
Trade and other receivables - - - - -
Other financial assets 110,831 2,492,882 - - 2,603,713
Total Financial Assets 112,851 2,492,882 - - 2,605,733,

Financial Liabilities
at Amortised Cost

Trade and other payables 2,463,619 - B - 2,463,619
Related party loan 2,303,263 5,939,988 - - 8,243,251
Total Financial Liabilities 4,766,882 5,939,988 - - 10,706,870
30 June 2020 Maturing Total
CONSOLIDATED <1 year 1t03 3to5 Over 5
Years Years Years
$ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 37,894 - - - 37,894
Trade and other receivables - = - “ -
Other financial assets 230,690 2,290,869 - - 2,521,559
Total Financial Assets 268,584 2,290,869 - - 2,559,453

Financial Liabilities
at Amortised Cost

Trade and other payables 2,361,591 - - - 2,361,591
Related party loan 1,431,572 6,241,031 - - 7,672,603
Total Financial Liabilities 3,793,163 6,241,031 - - 10,034,194
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Note 17 = Financial Instruments (cont.)
(d) Net Fair Values

The fair value of all the Group’s financial instruments recognised in the financial statements approximates or equals
their carrying amounts.

The net fair values of other loans and amounts due are determined by discounting the cash flows, at market interest
rates of similar borrowings, to their present value.

For other assets and other liabilities the net fair value approximates their carrying value except for investments in
controlled entities held at cost.

No financial assets and financial liabilities are readily traded on organised markets in standardised form other than
listed investments.

The business purpose of the financial assets is to provide working capital. The business purpose of the financial
liabilities is to provide operational finance.

(e) Credit Risk

The consclidated entity's maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date is the carrying amount of the recognised
financial assets net of any provision for doubtful debts.

Credit risk arises from potential failure of counterparties to meet their obligations under the respective contracts at
maturity. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities, financing activities including deposits with
banks and foreign exchange transactions.

At balance sheet date the consolidated entity has an exposure to loss in the event counterparties fail to settle on
contracts which are favourable to the consolidated entity. This exposure to loss is minimised as counterparties are
recognised financial intermediaries with acceptable credit ratings determined by a recognised rating agency.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are seftled within 14 - 30 days. A provision for impairment loss is
recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired. There are no receivables
that are considered impaired and therefore no impairment loss has been recognised by the Group in the current year
(2019; nil).

3] Sensitivity Analysis

The following tables summarise the sensitivity of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities to interest rate risk. Had the
relevant variables, as illustrated in the tables, moved, with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit and equity
including retained earnings would have been affected as shown. The analysis has been performed on the same basis
for 2020 and 2019. The following assumptions in relation to market movements have been made in the sensitivity

analysis.

Interest rate risk; +1% and -1%. Based on historical rates for the past 5 years, management considers that 100 basis
points is a “reasonably possible” estimate for movements in interest rates for the next 12 months.
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Note 17 — Financial Instruments (cont.)

Consolidated

30-Jun-21

Financial Assets

Cash & cash equivalents
Trade & other receivables
Other financial assets
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables

Total increasel/(decrease)

Consolidated

30-Jun-20

Financial Assets

Cash & cash equivalents
Trade & other receivables
Other financial assets
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables

Total increase/(decrease)

Carrying Interest Rate Risk Interest Rate Risk
Amount A% 1%
Profit $ Equity $ Profit $ Equity $
2,020 (20) (20) 20 20
110,831 - - > -
2,463,619 - - - _
(20) (20) 20 20
Carrying Interest Rate Risk Interest Rate Risk
Amount A% 1%
Profit $ Equity $ Profit $ Equity $
37,894 (378) (378) 378 378
230,690 - - - -
2,361,594 - - ” -
(378) (378) 378 378

Foreign exchange risk is not applicable to the Group as all financial assets and liabilities are held in AUD.

(iy Capital Risk Management

The Group'’s capital management objectives are:

° To safeguard the business as a going concern; and
° To maximise returns to shareholders.

The Group may issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts in order to maintain the optimal capital structure.

The Group also monitors balance sheet strength and flexibility using cash flow forecast analysis and detailed budgeting

processes.
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Note 18 — Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure

For the 30 June 2021 financial year the Company holds a 40.95% interest in the Bundaberg Coking Coal Project assets
that covers tenements EPC 1523, EPC 2195, and EPC 2196.

Notes Consolidated

2021 2020
Movement in assets classified as exploration $ $
Balance at beginning of year 2,068,417 1,700,000
Add:
Add: Capitalised expenditure 325,451 299,704
Add: Purchase of asset 200,000 -
Add: Impairment reversals - 291,165
Less: Sale of asset (100,986) (222 452)
Balance at end of year 2,492,882 2,068,417

The carrying value of the Group's interest in exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent upon the continuance
of the Group’s rights to tenure of the areas of interest and the results of future exploration and recoupment of costs
through successful development and exploitation of the areas of interest, or alternatively, by their sale.

Note 19 — Loss per share

Notes Consolidated
2021 2020
$ $
Basic and diluted loss per share — cents 2,068,417 1,700,000
Loss used in calculating basic and diluted loss per share (476,692) (235,847)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year used in calculation of basic and diluted loss per
share 847,804,893 847,804,893
Weighted number of options outstanding - =~
Less: anti-dilutive options - -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year used in calculation of diluted loss per share 847,804,893 847,804,893

Note 20 — Fair value measurement of non-financial assets

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are grouped into
three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined based on the observability of significant inputs to the

measurement, as follows:
» Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

s Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly

o Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
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Note 20 — Fair value measurement of non-financial assets (cont.)

The following table shows the levels within the hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a
recurring basis at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
30 June 2021 $ $ $ $
Financial assets
Listed shares 110,831 = = %
Total assets 110,831 - & “
Net fair value 110,831 - - -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
30 June 2020 $ $ $ $
Financial assets
Listed shares 230,690 - - -
Total assets 230,690 - - =
Net fair value 230,690 - - -

Note 21 — Contingent Liability

Fox Resources Ltd has an agreement with the lessor of the office premises that on the sale of the Project a payment will
be made as part of an agreement to defer rent. The contingent liability is $48,000; if the Project is not sold the contingent
liability is extinguished. Covid rent relief of $1,500 per month from 1 August 2021 will be repaid on the sale of the project.

Note 22 — Events occurring after balance sheet date

On 24 October 2022 the Company signed a mandate with a stockbroking company  to provide pre initial public offering
(IPO) capital for the proposed re-listing of the Company on the Australia Stock Exchange (ASX) providing the Company
can achieve a capital structure which supports this.

The Company’s directors Mr.T.Streeter and Mr. B.Garlick along with former director Mr.G.East have agreed in principle
to sign either a Deed of Settlement or a Royalty for the amounts owing to them or their respective Companies. The
deed was signed on 11 February 2022.

On 5 July 2021 Fox Coal Pty Ltd (Fox) raised $250,000 by issuing one Convertible Note totalling $250,000 to Zimprops
Coal Pty Ltd (Zimprops). The Convertible Note is repayable by 27 October 2022 at 5% interest.

On the 14 March 2022 Fox raised $50,000 by issuing one Convertible Note of $50,000 to Zimprops . The note is
repayable on the 27 October 2022 at 5% interest.

Zimprops will receive 4.43% per cent and 2.04% per cent respectively of the share capital in Fox if the convertible notes
above has not been paid by the maturity date. Fox has converted the Convertible Notes into shares under the following

terms six fully paid up shares, and three fully paid up shares respectively..

On 24 May 2022 Zimprops provided an advance of $50,000 to Fox at 5% to meet future project expenditure. The terms
of the advance are as follows:, to fund future project expenditure.
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Note 22 - Events occurring after balance sheet date

On 2 October 2019 the Company made an application to the Queensland Department of Resources for Exploration
Permit Contract (EPC 1523) to be upgraded to a Mineral Development License (MDLA 3040). This would allow the

Company to conduct further studies which increase the certainty of the development of a coking coal project. On 4 April

2022 The Minister of Resources in Queensland declined the application on the basis the Mineral Development License
was not in the public interest. The Company disagrees with the Minister's finding, and has referred the matter to the

Queensland Supreme Court.

Note 23 — Parent entity information

Information relating to Fox Resources Ltd (“the parent entity”)

Statement of Financial Position
Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Issued Capital
Accumulated losses
Total Equity

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Loss for the year
Total comprehensive loss
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2021 2020

$ $

127,363 2,356,319
2,620,245 2,356,319
4,838,436 3,796,775
10,778,424 10,037,806
(8,158,179) (7,681,487)
125,976,992 125,976,992
(134,135171) (133,658,479)
(8,158,179) (7,681,487)
(469,962) (235,847)
(469,962) (235,847)
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DIRECTOR’S DECLARATION

In the Directors’ opinion:

1.

In the opinion of the Directors of Fox Resources Lid:

(a)  The consolidated financial statements and notes of Fox Resources Ltd are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:
a. Giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its performance for the
financial year ended on that date; and
b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
(b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that Fox Resources Ltd will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable.

The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the
chief executive officer and chief financial officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

Note 2 confirms that the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

TERRY STREETER
NON EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

Dated the 215t of December 2022 at Perth, Western Australia.
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd
Level 43 Central Park

152-158 St Georges Terrace
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PO Box 7757

Cloisters Square

Perth WA 6850

T +61 8 9480 2000

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

To the Directors of Fox Resources Limited

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor for the audit
of Fox Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021, | declare that, to the best of my knowledge and
belief, there have been:

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit; and

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

C)Mn'\' /\,\ﬂofﬂ\'on

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

L A Stella
Pariner — Audit & Assurance

Perth, 21 December 2022

www.grantthornton.com.au
ACN-130 913 594

Grant Thomton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 a subsidiary or refated entity of Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41127 556 389 ACN 127 558 389.
‘Grant Thomton' refers to the brand under which the Grant Thomton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services fo their clients and/or
refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thomton Australia Limited is a member firm of Grant Thorton Intemational Ltd (GTIL).
GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member
firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and are not iable for one
another's acts or omissions, In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thomton' may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127
556 389 ACN 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards

Legislation.
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd
Level 43 Central Park

152-158 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000

PO Box 7757

Independent Auditor’s Report Cloisters Square

Perth WA 6850

To the Members of Fox Resources Limited 6194802000

Report on the audit of the financial report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Fox Resources Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group),
which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the Directors’ declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:

a giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its performance for
the year ended on that date; and

b  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to Note 2(s) in the financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
$476,692 during the year ended 30 June 2021, and as of that date, the Group's total liabilities exceeded its total
assets by $8,158,179. As stated in Note 2(s), these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in
Note 2(s), indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group'’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

www.grantthornton.com.au
ACN-130 913 594

Grant Thomton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thomton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 ACN 127 556 389.
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or
refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thomton Australia Limited is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).
GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member
firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and are not fiable for one
another's acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thomton' may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127
556 389 ACN 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards
Legislation.



Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include the financial report and our
auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
s0, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors’ for the financial report

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors’
responsibility also includes such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concer, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concem basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with the Australian Auditing Standards will aiways detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.auw/auditors responsibilities/ar3.pdf. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

(J)fom‘" /]hwn]ron

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

L A Stella
Partner — Audit & Assurance

Perth, 21 December 2022

Grant Thernton Audit Pty Lid
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